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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation. My name is John Liu. I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6  Today's oversight hearing is entitled Subway Riders

          7  Kept in the Dark, Then Evacuated.

          8                 This hearing has been put together as

          9  quickly as possible in the aftermath of two major

         10  incidents that occurred this past summer. On July

         11  17th, an A subway train stalled in the Rockaways

         12  where for two and a half hours, 300 people were on

         13  board that train without having any information, and

         14  also kept literally in the dark because they were

         15  given no information. The train was 40 feet above

         16  the ground. It was a harrowing experience for the

         17  people involved.

         18                 On August 16th, stalled B and D

         19  subway trains on the Manhattan Bridge kept 4,000

         20  people stranded. According to the MTA, there was a

         21  track fire that had caused that delay. It happened

         22  at rush hour, hence the large number of people who

         23  were involved, and here again, the disruption began

         24  shortly after 6:00 p.m., and the final passengers

         25  were not evacuated until 8:40. And the biggest
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          2  complaint in both of these incidents has not been

          3  that how could something like this happen, because

          4  in a system as expansive as the New York City subway

          5  system is, things do happen and disruptions do

          6  occur, unfortunately, but they do occur.

          7                 The biggest complaint, though, is

          8  that riders are left on the subway train without any

          9  information. Nobody tells them what is happening.

         10  The only thing that people constantly hear from the

         11  MTA is that if they see something, say something,

         12  and that's it. But if the MTA sees something, do

         13  they ever say anything? People constantly complain

         14  about the lack of communications, and this summer

         15  there were also worldwide events that raised anxiety

         16  about our subway system being a target for terror

         17  attack.

         18                 And, so, leaving so many people

         19  stranded, without giving them any information about

         20  what was happening or how long they would be stuck

         21  there in near 100 degree weather with no lights or

         22  air conditioning. That is just something that we

         23  need answers to.

         24                 We need answers about what happened,

         25  and what is being done so that the kinds of

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  complaints do not continue to be reiterated by the

          3  public and the passengers.

          4                 So, the focus of this hearing was

          5  intended to examine the evacuation procedures that

          6  the MTA has. And also the communications protocol

          7  that it follows whenever these kinds of incidents do

          8  occur.

          9                 NYC, New York City Transit's

         10  emergency evacuation procedures are in policy

         11  instruction number 1033 entitled "Procedures For

         12  Response To Rapid Transit Emergencies. Also Known As

         13  The Emergency Response Plan."

         14                 It addresses many types, specific

         15  types of emergency situations, such as fire and

         16  smoke conditions in tunnels. Total and partial power

         17  failures, bomb threats, and biological and other

         18  kinds of threats.

         19                 But it does not for some reason

         20  address what to do when there is an evacuation

         21  necessary from an elevated platform or on a bridge

         22  over a river. It also inexplicably does not address

         23  how New York City Transit workers are to communicate

         24  with passengers, hence the complaints from the

         25  passengers that they are given no instruction
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          2  whatsoever, or no information whatsoever.

          3                 This manual is only given to managers

          4  and supervisors. They are not given to any of the

          5  other workers, and we need to find out if this

          6  information is consistent. Does the left hand know

          7  what the right hand is doing at the MTA?

          8                 Our understanding is that the

          9  emergency training has not been changed since

         10  September 11th, and given the changed world that we

         11  are in, and the special status if you want to call

         12  it, that transit systems have, that's hard to

         13  explain also.

         14                 And, in fact, we will hear

         15  indications of how training may actually have

         16  decreased since September 11th, emergency training

         17  for emergency situations.

         18                 We do know of extra dollars that have

         19  come down from the federal government for, intended

         20  for use by the MTA to train their employees on what

         21  to do in these kinds of emergency situations, but we

         22  also have information that that has not actually

         23  been, that training has not actually been provided

         24  to the workers, the people who are on the ground

         25  whenever these kinds of emergency situations happen.
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          2                 This hearing had been planned, we

          3  began to plan this hearing shortly after the second

          4  incident in August, on August 16th, where the 4,000

          5  people were stranded on the Manhattan Bridge. And in

          6  September, we had notified the MTA that we needed to

          7  have some answers to the questions that exist.

          8  Unfortunately, the MTA is refusing to testify today.

          9  They told us last week that they would submit

         10  written testimony. The written testimony has not

         11  been received yet. They said that they will have it

         12  to us shortly after today's hearing concludes.

         13                 So, we will disseminate that

         14  testimony as best as we can after the hearing, as

         15  soon as we get that.

         16                 But in the meantime, we do have some

         17  people with insight into some of the procedures. We

         18  have a train operator and a train conductor who will

         19  be able to share with us our experience.

         20                 I'm not surprised that the MTA has

         21  balked at coming to this hearing. They have said

         22  that they will only appear if the Fire Department is

         23  here. Once again, that is simply pointing the finger

         24  at other agencies.

         25                 According to the information that we
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          2  do have, the Fire Department responded and

          3  ultimately evacuated everybody without incident. The

          4  issue is not how the evacuation took place. The

          5  issue is what exactly is the procedure that the

          6  Transit employees follow when there is such an

          7  emergency situation, and what's done between the

          8  time this incident begins to the time the evacuation

          9  begins when the Fire Department gets at the scene?

         10                 What is the communications

         11  procedures? What is it that is being told to the

         12  riders? How much information does the MTA actually

         13  have, and communicate to their own workers on the

         14  field?

         15                 Those are questions that remain

         16  outstanding, and we will hear from some of the

         17  people who have expertise in this, but these are

         18  questions that become more and more critical. I will

         19  remind people that about a year ago when we held a

         20  hearing on the MTA's ability to communicate with

         21  their passengers, that the MTA representatives sat

         22  in those chairs and actually testified that they did

         23  not see it as a priority to be able to communicate

         24  with all of the riders in subway trains and on

         25  platforms instantaneously. They testified that they
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          2  can simply send someone around on the platforms to

          3  let people know what was happening in case there was

          4  an emergency.

          5                 And, so, that is the kind of

          6  mentality that we're dealing with, unfortunately.

          7  But there is no need, according to the MTA, to

          8  actually communicate with the passengers and riders

          9  and the public.

         10                 So, let me call upon two witnesses to

         11  begin with, Mr. D.J. Small and Mr. Eric King. And

         12  while they are coming to the witness table, let me

         13  introduce Council Member Diana Reyna, from Brooklyn.

         14  Just a little bit before Council Member Daniel

         15  Garodnick was here as well. We have another hearing

         16  next door that I will actually have to go to for a

         17  little bit to cast a vote when they're ready to

         18  vote. And, so, we will have members coming back and

         19  forth.

         20                 And, Council Member Miguel Martinez,

         21  and Council Member Larry Seabrook were here as well.

         22  Again, we have to go back and forth between these

         23  two meeting rooms.

         24                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         25  joining us today. And please proceed when you're
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          2  ready.

          3                 Press the button so that the red

          4  light is off.

          5                 MR. SMALL: Good morning, Mr.

          6  Chairman, members of the Committee, and fellow

          7  citizens of the City of New York. My name is D.J.

          8  Small, and I am employed by the New York City

          9  Transit Authority for 20 years, 18 of those years as

         10  a train operator.

         11                 I am here today to talk about the

         12  conditions under which evacuations take place, and

         13  the training we receive for safety evacuations. At

         14  the height of rush hour, we carry 2,000 passengers

         15  on a train nearly two blocks long. The safety of our

         16  riders is our main concern at all times. But in an

         17  emergency, safety becomes that much more important.

         18  In emergencies we need to be able to evacuate

         19  passengers from the train safely, swiftly and

         20  efficiently.

         21                 A train evacuation could take place

         22  under the East River, it could be on the Manhattan

         23  Bridge or high above the street in Broad Channel. It

         24  could be as much as 17 stories below ground in Upper

         25  Manhattan. Two-thousand people could be stuck
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          2  several City blocks from an emergency exit.

          3                 For a two-person crew, an evacuation

          4  is no small undertaking, especially when you

          5  consider it an evacuation, which often takes place

          6  under conditions of darkness, sometimes in the

          7  presence of smoke or through an imperfect

          8  communications systems, always with passengers on

          9  the verge of panic.

         10                 Five years ago, the importance of the

         11  last point changed drastically. Panic was always a

         12  potential danger. But since the World Trade, it is

         13  never far from the surface. Once panic ignites, it

         14  becomes a danger in its own right, as threatening as

         15  a fire or any other emergency condition.

         16                 Despite these changes, the training

         17  received today is no different than that before

         18  9/11.

         19                 In 1988 I went to 30 days of training

         20  before setting out at the controls of a train. Of

         21  these 30 days, one day, eight hours, was devoted to

         22  fire and evacuation safety.

         23                 This included such subjects as

         24  chemistry and physics of fire, the classification of

         25  fires, the use of fire extinguishers and procedures
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          2  for evacuation. Of these eight hours, about six went

          3  to fire-related topics and about two to evacuation.

          4  The problem of how to deal with passenger panic was

          5  never really addressed.

          6                 Since then I've gone for refresher

          7  courses three times. Most recently in 2003. Each

          8  time the contents of the course was the same as in

          9  1988. With me today is conductor Eric King, who has

         10  worked at New York City Transit since 1998. He won

         11  promotion to conductor in 2005 and went through 40

         12  days of training that same year.

         13                 Training was longer because he was

         14  trained on more types of subway equipment. But he

         15  got no additional safety or evacuation training.

         16                 One day, for eight hours of that

         17  training, was on fire and evacuation safety. From

         18  his description, it was the same course that I went

         19  through in 1988. Again, two hours on evacuation.

         20                 For train operators and conductors,

         21  there has been no significant change in evacuation

         22  training from before 9/11 to today.

         23                 Nor do we get trained often.

         24  According to documents the New York City Transit has

         25  provided us, retraining is required annually.
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          2  According to officials of MTA training program,

          3  retraining is required every three years.

          4                 We have provided the Committee staff

          5  with data from the TA showing that train operators

          6  are being retrained at the rate of about every six

          7  years. In the case of conductors, data showed that

          8  there was no training prior to late 2003, following

          9  which all conductors were retrained in over a period

         10  of about two years.

         11                 Local 100 fought long and hard for

         12  conductor retraining. We welcome the change. We are

         13  now monitoring the frequency of this retraining. Of

         14  course, training employees and passenger service is

         15  not the only form of evacuation training the TA has.

         16  We understand that management has instituted

         17  rigorous evacuation training for supervisory

         18  personnel at the TA offices at 2 Broadway.

         19                 We have no objection to this. We ask

         20  only that our riders receive as much consideration

         21  as TA managers and consideration reflect the

         22  different conditions of the tunnel and elevator

         23  structures.

         24                 I never want to have to come before

         25  this Committee to testify about lives lost in an
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          2  emergency. Proper training and procedures alone do

          3  not absolutely guarantee this, but they are the best

          4  shot that we have.

          5                 Of course, fulfilling the training

          6  mandate means taking a few more crews out of

          7  passenger service every day and costs a few more

          8  dollars, but we think our riders' lives are worth

          9  it.

         10                 We hope that this Committee will use

         11  its good auspices to encourage the TA to at least

         12  adhere to their own training standards and overtime

         13  to improve these standards. Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         15  Mr. Small, for taking the time. And thank you, Mr.

         16  King, for taking the time to attend the hearing

         17  today, and for sharing with us some of your

         18  experiences.

         19                 Why is it that -- in the past five

         20  years since September 11th, Mr. Small, how many

         21  times have you been directed to go for training for

         22  evacuations?

         23                 MR. SMALL: Once in 2003.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the procedures

         25  that New York  City Transit provides clearly state
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          2  that that trianing is required every year?

          3                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Exactly what kind of

          5  training is that that's required every year?

          6                 MR. SMALL: The training is supposed

          7  to be on fire, fire safety and evacuation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that would cover

          9  what happens in any kind of evacuation or just the

         10  fire-related evacuation?

         11                 MR. SMALL: In any type of evacuation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         13                 I think you alluded to the fact that

         14  perhaps the training mandate, fulfilling that

         15  mandate, might cost a few more dollars; is that why

         16  the training is not given every year?

         17                 MR. SMALL: Quite possibly. But as you

         18  stated earlier, Transit Authority has received extra

         19  money since 9/11, and they've taken that money and

         20  trained managers who sit in office buildings on

         21  evacuation, and I'm the on-site responder myself and

         22  the conductor. We don't have time to wait for

         23  someone to come from an office building to help and

         24  assist us. We have to do it right then and there.

         25  So, why are these people receiving this training at
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          2  all for that matter is beyond me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Do we have any

          4  indication, do you have any information about how

          5  much additional funding has been provided by the

          6  federal government for training in evacuation

          7  procedures?

          8                 MR. SMALL: According to Rocco Cortiz,

          9  he used to be the gentleman in charge of all the

         10  training for the New York City Transit Authority, in

         11  2004, the meeting that I was at, he said that his

         12  budget had doubled.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: For training?

         14                 MR. SMALL: For training.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         16                 So, all that additional funding has

         17  gone to training the managers and supervisors?

         18                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the people who

         20  are actually on the trains and platforms?

         21                 MR. SMALL: That is correct. We, the

         22  members of Local 100, in any type of emergency, we

         23  are the on-site responders. So, I feel that we need

         24  that extra training and not someone sitting in an

         25  office building.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And are your

          3  colleagues, your fellow trained operators and

          4  conductors, is there some kind of a reluctance to

          5  attend this kind of training?

          6                 MR. SMALL: No. Not on our part. We

          7  welcome it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

          9                 And you're the ones that have to face

         10  the music from irate passengers?

         11                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Who I'm sure in the

         13  case of the rush hour evacuation, we had 2,000

         14  people on each train, they're the ones that are

         15  screaming at you and your colleagues?

         16                 MR. SMALL: Yes, they are.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now, in a situation

         18  like what happened on the Manhattan Bridge, where

         19  the 2,000 people were stuck in each of the two

         20  trains, how soon does someone get in touch with you

         21  and your colleagues, the people who are actually on

         22  the trains, and let you know what is actually

         23  happening?

         24                 Because you don't know what's

         25  happening. As the train operator, you might see that
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          2  there is a fire on the track.

          3                 MR. SMALL: That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But that's only if

          5  you're in the front train. If you're in the train

          6  behind, you have no idea what's happening.

          7                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, how much time

          9  occurs between the time you have to stop your train,

         10  you have the red signal, and the time that someone

         11  from the command center lets you know what is

         12  happening?

         13                 MR. SMALL: We have a lot of places

         14  that we call "dead spots," where there is poor

         15  communication over the radio. And it may be a matter

         16  of maybe one or two minutes, but it could seem

         17  longer than that that you haven't been in contact

         18  with control. Maybe you can hear them, but they

         19  can't hear you as you're asking them questions or

         20  vice versa.

         21                 I think that as a train operator, my

         22  job at that point, if my train has to be stopped for

         23  whatever reason, I'm not the one who knows exactly

         24  why, I have to convey that information to my

         25  conductor. And if -- the conductor has to be very
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          2  resourceful in order to people calm and if

          3  necessary, we have to evacuate the train, to

          4  expedite that as quickly as possible.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the train

          6  operator, basically the person who drives the train,

          7  actually gets the information about what is

          8  happening, and then the train operator has to let

          9  the conductor know? The conductor doesn't know

         10  directly from command?

         11                 MR. SMALL: Yes, as long as his radio

         12  is working. It could be a situation where my radio

         13  is inoperative and his is, and he'll transmit that

         14  information to me over the intercom system, which is

         15  a part of the train system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And there would be

         17  nothing wrong with the intercom, right? Because

         18  that's a physical hardwire, there are no dead spots?

         19  I mean, unless someone actually cut the wire, for

         20  whatever reason, there wouldn't be any difficulty

         21  communicating between the train operator and the

         22  train conductor?

         23                 MR. SMALL: There shouldn't be,

         24  because we do do a series of checks before you take

         25  a train out of the terminal. But while you're en
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          2  route, anything could happen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, there is

          4  still an ongoing problem with dead spots, where if

          5  something did happen, you would have the red light,

          6  but you could potentially not have any idea what's

          7  happening?

          8                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that continues to

         10  be a problem. What about when they do tell you

         11  what's happening? Are you at liberty to just tell

         12  all the passengers what you hear from command?

         13                 MR. SMALL: No, I'm not.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Then how do you know

         15  what you should say and should not be saying?

         16                 MR. SMALL: Okay, that's where common

         17  sense comes into play. For instance, if there is a

         18  fire up ahead, I'm not going to tell the passengers

         19  that there's a fire. What I'm going to say is that

         20  we have a smoke condition and to please move to the

         21  rear of the train.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that's based on

         23  the training that's provided by the MTA? Or just

         24  common sense?

         25                 MR. SMALL: Like I said, that's my
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          2  common sense coming into play.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

          4                 And let me ask you, Mr. King, you've

          5  been on the job for several years, you were promoted

          6  to conductor just last year?

          7                 MR. KING: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, about how long

          9  have you been a train conductor, for a year?

         10                 MR. KING: Yes, I've been conductor

         11  for a year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in this time

         13  period, what kind of training has been provided to

         14  you, in terms of what to do in an emergency

         15  situation and evacuation situation?

         16                 MR. KING: I received the same

         17  eight-hour training that Mr. Small has received.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Back in 2003?

         19                 MR. KING: Yes. I received the same

         20  training. They gave us no additional training.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Did you receive that

         22  training in 2003 or last year when you became a

         23  conductor?

         24                 MR. KING: Last year when I became a

         25  conductor.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. So, when

          3  you did become a conductor, at the beginning they

          4  did provide you with training.

          5                 MR. KING: Yes, an eight-hour course.

          6  Some devoted to fire training, some devoted to

          7  evacuation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And can you give us

          9  maybe just some of the highlights or the most

         10  important points in terms of what to do in an

         11  evacuation procedure?

         12                 MR. KING: In an evacuation procedure,

         13  first you must make sure that to the best of your

         14  ability to keep the passengers calm. You have to

         15  wait for full instructions from control center on

         16  how they want you to evacuate the train, and follow

         17  the rule book procedures on evacuating the train.

         18                 There's different ways in which you

         19  can evacuate a train. You may have to have another

         20  train aligned with another train to evacuate, you

         21  know, through certain doors.

         22                 You might have to evacuate people on

         23  the road. That depends on where you're evacuating

         24  the train at. And the conditions of the area where

         25  you're evacuating the train.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. We've been

          3  joined by Council Member Darlene Mealy, and Council

          4  Member Mike McMahon, and Council Member Andrew

          5  Lanza.

          6                 Gentlemen, I apologize, I have to

          7  step next door to cast my vote before they close the

          8  roll. In the meantime, Council Member Mealy has some

          9  questions. I'll be right back.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good morning.

         11                 MR. SMALL: Good morning.

         12                 MR. KING: Good morning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: To listen to

         14  you, you said that you went through the training

         15  recently, could you tell me, did the union, TWU, did

         16  a separate training? Or it was just on terrorism?

         17                 MR. SMALL: The training that we did

         18  as Local 100 was on terrorism.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Just terrorism.

         20                 Have you all presented that to the

         21  union? Did you take it up with them?

         22                 MR. SMALL: You mean have we presented

         23  that to management?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes.

         25                 MR. SMALL: Yes, we have. In fact, we
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          2  invited some of them to take the course with us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could you just

          4  tell me, is there a mandate procedure in which

          5  Transit will tell you how to, to tell how to delay

          6  and why the delay is happening? Is there a mandated

          7  procedure, just tell the passengers that it's just a

          8  delay, even though it's the fire? I know you said

          9  it's just common sense, but is it a mandate that

         10  they should have?

         11                 MR. SMALL: Is there anything in

         12  writing that Transit has given us?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes.

         14                 MR. SMALL: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Do you think

         16  that --

         17                 MR. SMALL: But it's like in any

         18  situation, you don't want to panic people.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Right.

         20                 MR. SMALL: Since 9/11, the threshold

         21  for panic is different than it was prior to 9/11.

         22  You know, even now I think if you say there is a

         23  smoke condition, especially if you're underground,

         24  people are going to start to think the worst because

         25  of what happened on 9/11. So, even saying there is a
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          2  smoke condition is going to raise eyebrows

          3  differently than it did prior to 2001.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could I ask you

          5  another question? Do you think a set procedure for

          6  emergencies on a train, will it require more

          7  workers?

          8                 MR. SMALL: Yes, it would.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: And you just

         10  said Mr. Rocco --

         11                 MR. SMALL: Rocco Cortiz, who was in

         12  charge.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Oh, he was?

         14                 MR. SMALL: Yes. I don't know what he

         15  does now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I worked with

         17  him. I worked for him. He's not in charge anymore?

         18                 MR. SMALL: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: So, do you feel

         20  they should have a budget for those workers? For our

         21  safety?

         22                 MR. SMALL: I think that our fellow

         23  members of Local 100, we should have received

         24  additional training, not only in passenger

         25  evacuation, but also in terrorism.
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          2                 And we received no training really on

          3  terrorism, except that they gave us an emergency

          4  escape mask, and that was a two-hour course, and

          5  essentially was put the mask on, right? And run for

          6  your life.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Maybe I missed

          8  it earlier, what is the evacuation time? How long

          9  would that take to evacuate a whole train?

         10                 MR. SMALL: It would depend on how

         11  many passengers are on the train.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, rush

         13  hour?

         14                 MR. SMALL: Rush hour? An evacuation

         15  could take 30 minutes or more.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Do you think it

         17  would help if they had an individual at each

         18  station, just in case if an evacuation has to

         19  happen, the command should be at one station and

         20  then automatically people go to each separate

         21  station to help?

         22                 MR. SMALL: I would say yes, but is

         23  Transit Authority going to provide that extra

         24  person, I don't know. But I would say that would be

         25  a start.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I wasn't here

          3  earlier, Chairman. I would love to hear what MTA has

          4  to say. I have numerous questions for them. Are they

          5  here?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The MTA has refused

          7  to attend this hearing. Instead, they have said that

          8  they will submit testimony for the hearing. Up until

          9  this morning, we were under the -- we were told that

         10  they would give us the testimony before the hearing.

         11  And this morning they told us that they would give

         12  us the testimony when the hearing is done.

         13                 So, clearly there are questions here

         14  for the MTA that they need to answer, and in this

         15  day and age it just boggles the mind that we could

         16  have these kinds of situations where in August

         17  thousands of people were stranded without even being

         18  told what was happening, and there was just a couple

         19  of weeks after a major incident required the

         20  heightening of the terror alert in the City and in

         21  the Transit system.

         22                 And, so, you can only imagine what's

         23  going through people's minds when they're sitting

         24  and standing in crowded subway trains, not being

         25  told what's happening.
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          2                 Now, I appreciate your questions,

          3  Council Member Mealy, and the responses from our

          4  guests here. The issue remains centered around what

          5  the MTA does in terms of its own procedures, and

          6  obviously those procedures require training of the

          7  workers involved in executing those procedures. The

          8  MTA clearly has procedures that they have to follow

          9  in these kinds of emergency situations, and

         10  evacuations. And in fact, their procedures are

         11  outlined very clearly here. The procedures for

         12  response to rapid transit emergency. The one major

         13  issue, and the MTA clearly has to own up to it, is

         14  that even though they have these procedures down on

         15  paper, that's as far as the procedures go. The

         16  people who are on the ground, in the trains and on

         17  the platforms who actually have to carry out these

         18  procedures are not trained on a regular basis.

         19                 I am gratified to hear that when Mr.

         20  King became a conductor, he did receive the

         21  training, but the training is required every single

         22  year, and Mr. Small, in the last five years has been

         23  trained only once. In 2003, three years ago.

         24                 And the training, the procedures have

         25  not changed since September 11th, which is another
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          2  major shortcoming that I certainly want the

          3  Committee members to be aware of.

          4                 There have been a lot of questions

          5  about why it took so long to get people evacuated,

          6  and why it took so long to even communicate with

          7  people on the trains in the August incident, as well

          8  as the July incident.

          9                 The July incident was very

         10  unfortunate. It was a precarious situation because

         11  you had 300 people 40 feet above the street level

         12  stranded. In the August situation we had 4,000

         13  people stuck. And part of what is happening here,

         14  and we fully intend to follow up with the MTA to --

         15  part of the problem is that their policy

         16  instructions, they highlight a lot of specific

         17  situations. What happens in fire and smoke

         18  conditions, in tunnels, what happens when there are

         19  total and partial power failures, collisions,

         20  derailments. But there is nothing in this book that

         21  talks about what happens when a train has to be

         22  evacuated that is on an elevated track or on a

         23  bridge. And, so, that's clearly, there is a big

         24  gaping hole in the MTA's own policy instruction

         25  manual for what they do in these kinds of
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          2  situations.

          3                 Mr. King, do you want to?

          4                 MR. KING: Yes. You said that you were

          5  happy to hear that I did receive this training, even

          6  when I just got promoted. But I would like to say

          7  that the one day of training is not enough, even

          8  though I did receive it.

          9                 When you in a promotional class, and

         10  you have 50 something students, you don't have much

         11  individual time going through training when it's

         12  only two hours directly evacuation is part of that

         13  eight hours. You're not receiving or retaining much

         14  information. Everything is like so quick, then

         15  you're out the door.

         16                 I mean, one day, eight hours is not

         17  enough for evacuating a train of 2,000 people in the

         18  height of rush hour or emergency situation. How is

         19  two hours adequate enough to fully train someone?

         20  And you're talking a whole class on top of that.

         21  That's only getting a few minutes each.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         23                 I mean, I do appreciate that, Mr.

         24  King.

         25                 We're not looking to hold the MTA
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          2  responsible for something that they may not be

          3  responsible for. In the case of an emergency

          4  evacuation, it's written very clearly in their

          5  policies, and I think it's accepted by the City,

          6  that the people who are to actually execute the

          7  evacuation procedures, the actual evacuation, the

          8  lead agency is the Fire Department.

          9                 MR. KING: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, actually getting

         11  people off the trains and to safety, the people who

         12  are most in charge is the Fire Department, although

         13  they obviously have to defer to your expertise, in

         14  terms of how the train operates and what to do on

         15  the tracks and things like that.

         16                 So, you definitely do need the

         17  training.

         18                 The question for us is what happens

         19  before the Fire Department gets to the scene? The

         20  MTA tells you to, oh, just keep everybody calm.

         21                 MR. KING: Not always.

         22                 MR. SMALL: Essentially that's what

         23  they tell us.

         24                 There is also something else that you

         25  alluded to. When the Fire and Police arrive on the
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          2  scene, the first thing they ask the crews, what's

          3  going on? So, if you have a person or you have a

          4  crew that is not, I'm looking for the right word

          5  here, that is not sharp, they may not be able to

          6  give the first responders the necessary information

          7  that they need.

          8                 My opinion is that by the time the

          9  first responders arrive, the on-site responders

         10  should have already started moving people off the

         11  train, toward an emergency exit, making sure that if

         12  there are people who are handicapped or physically

         13  disabled, making sure that they're in an area where

         14  the first responders, who are the police and fire,

         15  can get to them safely and get them out of harm's

         16  way.

         17                 That type of training, or that type

         18  of intuition lies with the individual. It's not part

         19  of what, or the training that we actually receive.

         20  You know, the sharper the individual is, the better

         21  the evacuation it's going to be.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, thank you.

         23                 Mr. King, you wanted to add something

         24  before?

         25                 MR. KING: No. Well, just for the fact
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          2  that the training crew that's on the train,

          3  sometimes, you were talking before about the

          4  passengers being kept in the dark, a lot of times

          5  they're not, the controller is not like being in

          6  touch with us to tell us what's going on so that we

          7  can carefully relay the message to the passengers.

          8  You know, that probably needs to be improved also.

          9                 MR. SMALL: I mean, you can only say

         10  we're being held because of a red signal so many

         11  times before the red flag starts going off and

         12  people saying, well, we've been here a half an hour,

         13  what's going on?

         14                 MR. KING: We're kept in the dark

         15  also, the train crew on the crew -- on the train.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But even in

         17  cases where they do tell you what's happening, is

         18  there some, in the training do they give you some

         19  guidance about how to communicate what's happening

         20  to the passengers?

         21                 MR. SMALL: Yes. The first thing is

         22  like I said earlier, you don't want to use the word

         23  fire. You use the word smoke condition, and I think

         24  even now that may be modified, not to use the word

         25  smoke condition, you know? The norm or the standard
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          2  seems to be the signal problems, they have a red

          3  signal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the MTA actually

          5  instructs in the training, they instruct you and

          6  your colleagues to use these kinds of descriptions?

          7  If it's a fire, don't say fire, say smoke condition?

          8                 MR. SMALL: That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What are some other

         10  kinds of descriptors that they instruct you to use?

         11  That the train is being stopped because of?

         12                 MR. KING: It can be a mechanical

         13  problem that is on the train, a high-view

         14  (phonetic), it could be a water condition, a smoke

         15  condition.

         16                 MR. SMALL: Or being held by local

         17  supervision.

         18                 MR. KING: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         20                 Okay, we have some questions from

         21  Council Member Garodnick.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Gentlemen, thank you for being here.

         25  I really appreciate your testimony and your candor.
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          2  As a subway rider, a member of this body and this

          3  Committee, obviously very concerned about a lot of

          4  the things that you're saying, because it seems to

          5  me that you are left really in many cases to your

          6  own devices to figure out how to not only receive

          7  information and figure out what's going on, but also

          8  how to communicate to thousands of passengers who

          9  are probably very nervous in a dangerous situation

         10  in a lot of circumstances, and that is a near

         11  impossible task to accomplish, and to do it

         12  properly, if there is a proper way necessarily to do

         13  it.

         14                 I wanted to ask you a couple of

         15  questions about the training. I understand that two

         16  hours of total training is dedicated to evacuation.

         17  And I also do understand that the Fire Department

         18  has the lead in any evacuation that's not left to

         19  the operator of the train specifically, but is the

         20  Fire Department part of your evacuation training at

         21  all, a two-hour period, was the Fire Department part

         22  of that?

         23                 MR. SMALL: No.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, the

         25  Fire Department, which would be responsible
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          2  ultimately for any evacuation of a train had no

          3  participation in that two-hour period?

          4                 MR. SMALL: None in 2003 when I got

          5  trained.

          6                 MR. KING: Not in 2005 either.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Does that

          8  surprise you?

          9                 MR. SMALL: I've been there 20 years

         10  and I'm not surprised at anything they do now.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, I'll

         12  tell you, it surprises me. The amount of time and

         13  the absence of the Fire Department as part of that

         14  training surprises me because there clearly needs to

         15  be sensitive coordination there, you would think,

         16  between the Fire Department and the operator of the

         17  train during a very stressful and very difficult

         18  moment.

         19                 Help me understand a little bit

         20  better what exactly happened in the two-hour

         21  training, the 2003 training or 2005, what do they

         22  take you through by way of evacuation scenarios or

         23  how to go about it? What exactly happens in that

         24  session?

         25                 MR. SMALL: The training that I had in
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          2  2003, they have a simulated booth out in Coney

          3  Island Yard, and they have theater smoke, and you

          4  have to get the people onto the catwalk or

          5  benchwalk, meaning it's an underground situation,

          6  not like in the Rockaways or not on a bridge.

          7                 So, you get the people to the

          8  benchwalk, you walk them to the neighbor --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I'm sorry,

         10  a benchwalk? Can you just describe what that is?

         11                 MR. SMALL: A benchwalk is like an

         12  area underground that's adjacent to, most likely to

         13  a local track that people can walk on, and depending

         14  on how far away the exit is, usually anywhere from

         15  500 to 1,000 feet apart, you get them to that exit.

         16  You go up the exit first to be sure that everyone

         17  behind you can exit from there, to the emergency

         18  hatch, and then you go back down, get them, and

         19  bring them up through the emergency hatch.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, it's

         21  simulation. So, they bring you to an area where you

         22  actually can do a simulation of an actual

         23  evacuation; is that right?

         24                 MR. SMALL: Under those conditions

         25  that I just explained.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So,

          3  underground. Not on a bridge, not on the Rockaways,

          4  underground?

          5                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: What sort

          7  of preparation do they give you in advance of that

          8  simulation? Do they explain to you what or why or

          9  how it's going to go about? Or do they just take you

         10  out there and say do it like this?

         11                 MR. SMALL: Well, your other

         12  classmates are participants, and they'll be the

         13  passengers and you be the train operator or

         14  conductor, and they'll instruct someone to be

         15  unruly, and you have to calm that person down. Then

         16  you'll have this other person who is disabled.

         17  You'll have to know what to do for that individual,

         18  and you'll have a person that's supposed to be in a

         19  wheelchair.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So they

         21  give you different scenarios that you might

         22  encounter in a situation while you're there on the

         23  train in a simulation underground?

         24                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Do they
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          2  prep you in advance as to how you might want to

          3  address the situations before they brought you into

          4  that two-hour training?

          5                 MR. SMALL: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: How much

          7  time do you spend in a classroom before you go into

          8  that evacuation simulation for evacuation training

          9  specifically?

         10                 MR. SMALL: Well, it's a combination

         11  of that training and on the use of fire

         12  extinguishers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: That's the

         14  rest of the eight hours, right?

         15                 MR. SMALL: Right. But they sort of

         16  like combine it together, because the instructor who

         17  is a certified person to teach the class is not

         18  necessarily a member of the New York City Fire

         19  Department. They'll sort of like mix that together

         20  at some point when they say, okay, the next part of

         21  the class is going to be on evacuation. Then they

         22  might spend maybe 40 minutes to an hour speaking on

         23  the different scenarios you're going to have in

         24  terms of the evacuation. The next hour is actually

         25  spent where everyone takes part in the evacuation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And you

          3  said that the evacuees are really your classmates,

          4  how many people are you talking about?

          5                 MR. SMALL: It can vary. It can vary

          6  anywhere from five to 25.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, it's

          8  enough people to fit basically an under-populated

          9  single subway car?

         10                 MR. SMALL: A relatively easy

         11  evacuation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Right.

         13                 Do they instruct you what you're

         14  supposed to do when the Fire Department comes to

         15  take over in event of a fire or I guess smoke

         16  situation, or how ever we're supposed to call it, in

         17  the event of an emergency?

         18                 MR. SMALL: The first thing the Fire

         19  Department and the Police Department is going to ask

         20  the crews, is the power off? And it is your job to

         21  make sure that the power is off. You call control

         22  and you tell them you request power off, and you

         23  make sure that you get a confirmation, so that way

         24  when police and fire officers come to the scene, you

         25  can tell them that the power is off. They will not
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          2  go onto the roadbed until they know that for sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, that's

          4  it. That's what you are --

          5                 MR. SMALL: That's my most important

          6  task.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Make sure

          8  power is off so that people can move around more

          9  freely and be able to conduct an evacuation; is that

         10  right?

         11                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Are you

         13  instructed to defer to the Fire Department when they

         14  arrive?

         15                 MR. SMALL: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But, again,

         17  they were not present as part of this training at

         18  all, the two-hour period that you do?

         19                 MR. SMALL: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         21                 You mentioned that common sense is

         22  the guide by which to communicate with passengers as

         23  to what is going on; that's what you said before,

         24  right?

         25                 MR. SMALL: Yes. You're always going
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          2  to have that one passenger that you have to calm

          3  down very quickly. Because if you don't, that one

          4  passenger will cause other passengers to panic. So,

          5  if you can diffuse that individual very quickly and

          6  calmly, then everyone else will follow your

          7  instructions and they'll be calm and then can have a

          8  safe evacuation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, is

         10  keeping passengers calm part of the training? Do

         11  they say, look, guys, when there is a situation like

         12  this, obviously you need to try to keep people calm

         13  and use your best judgments on how to do that?

         14                 MR. SMALL: Now, in 2003 we had some

         15  literature that they had given us on unruly

         16  passenger, the disabled passenger, and the pregnant

         17  lady who is on the train. They basically told you

         18  what you need to do if any of these people ask for

         19  help or how to diffuse a situation that they may

         20  cause.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But the

         22  actual language that you use, fire conditions as

         23  opposed to -- I'm sorry, a smoke condition as

         24  opposed to a fire, are those tips that come from

         25  MTA, New York City Transit, or is that just for the
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          2  common way that operators deal with --

          3                 MR. SMALL: Yes. From what I recall,

          4  that is part of the manual that they give you. You

          5  don't want to use the word fire.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Never use

          7  the word fire.

          8                 MR. SMALL: Never use the word fire.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, when

         10  I'm on a subway and I hear the word smoke condition,

         11  I should be decently nervous.

         12                 MR. SMALL: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, I'll

         14  keep that in mind.

         15                 Let me just go into an area with even

         16  a little more sensitivity here.

         17                 Obviously we live in a day and age in

         18  which we're all concerned about terrorism and the

         19  possibility of that being present again in New York

         20  City, what about the possibility of some sort of an

         21  explosion on a subway? Is that addressed in any way

         22  in your training for how to deal with an emergency

         23  situation?

         24                 MR. SMALL: It wasn't in 2003.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: 2005?
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          2                 MR. KING: The only thing that I can

          3  remember we're being taught over time is to make the

          4  security announcements and report suspicious

          5  packages.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Report

          7  suspicious packages?

          8                 MR. KING: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. And

         10  if that package were to explode, there is no

         11  scenario, no training as to how to deal with the

         12  interim period between the moment that you would

         13  have any instructions from a control center or when

         14  a Fire Department would be there?

         15                 MR. SMALL: You would take out your

         16  escape mask, put it on, and make sure that you get

         17  out. And if someone else is smart enough to follow

         18  you, then they'll go out the safety also.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I'm sorry,

         20  an escape mask you said?

         21                 MR. SMALL: Yes.

         22                 I think it was in 2002, or either

         23  2003, in response to President Toussaint saying that

         24  there was no added training since 9/11, they gave us

         25  escape masks for train operators, conductors,
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          2  several other Local 100 employees who come in

          3  contact with the public.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And the

          5  escape mask is just -- describe it to me. What is it

          6  exactly?

          7                 MR. SMALL: It looks almost like a gas

          8  mask, but it only has I think 15 minutes of air

          9  supply.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And it

         11  protects you from breathing in any number of things,

         12  I would imagine?

         13                 MR. SMALL: Not smoke, though.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Not smoke.

         15                 MR. SMALL: It's supposed to be used

         16  in case of a biochemical attack.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         18                 So, take me through this then for a

         19  moment. Let's say you're in the first car and

         20  operating the train and in the third car you will

         21  become aware that there is some sort of an

         22  explosion, a couple cars back. No time really to

         23  have much communication with the control center, I

         24  would think, fair to say, before you have to act or

         25  make some decisions? Is that fair to say?

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 MR. SMALL: You're probably acting or

          3  communicating with them all at the same time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And you

          5  would communicate to them that it is your

          6  understanding that there's been an explosion on the

          7  train, and at the same time, what would you be doing

          8  in terms of acting?

          9                 And let's just take the underground

         10  scenario, because that was the one where you had the

         11  simulation. Let's just take that scenario. You're in

         12  an underground passage somewhere and there is an

         13  explosion and you communicate to the control center,

         14  but you also are in the position of having to do

         15  something at that moment.

         16                 MR. SMALL: Get the people who are not

         17  injured out of harm's way. Assess the condition of

         18  the injuries or customers or passengers, and

         19  immediately start to get the people who aren't

         20  injured out of harm's way leading to a safe area off

         21  the train up an emergency exit.

         22                 Now, also, if you ascertain that you

         23  can't save anyone in the cars behind you, and you

         24  have to make a quick assessment at that moment. You

         25  might say, okay, this happened three cars away from
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          2  me, I don't really see anybody moving back there,

          3  the people right here in this car where I'm at, I

          4  take them to safety.

          5                 It's really a judgment call at that

          6  point, at that point in time. The bad thing about it

          7  is that we haven't received any training in first

          8  aid or CPR, and quite possibly, if we have that type

          9  of training, not only can we get the people who

         10  aren't harmed out of harm's way, but we could attend

         11  to some of the people who may be injured.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I think

         13  you've described the way to handle that situation

         14  very sensibly, and I appreciate your demeanor, and I

         15  must say I think anybody would be lucky to have you

         16  present at the scene if there were ever a situation

         17  like that. I give you a lot of credit. But you're

         18  absolutely right, the fact that there has been no

         19  training as to how to handle a situation like that

         20  is extremely disturbing. It's extremely disturbing,

         21  because those are very tricky and difficult and

         22  stressful situations to anticipate, imagine even to

         23  participate in. So, there should be no situation.

         24  This should be rote. There should be a situation

         25  where the operator, the conductor, you know just by
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          2  the fact that you have participated in enough

          3  trainings, have gone through it enough times so that

          4  you know precisely how to handle it, just by your

          5  constant training on the subject. And I appreciate

          6  your instincts and they sound very good to me, but

          7  the fact that there is not more by the way of

          8  training I find very, very disturbing.

          9                 MR. SMALL: I think the ideal thing

         10  would be that when they did, when they do decide to

         11  give us additional training that it be a joint

         12  effort between TA management and Local 100. We

         13  welcome to work in the spirit of cooperation,

         14  whenever they decide to give us that additional

         15  training.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Just the

         17  last couple of questions. I know that some of my

         18  colleagues have questions for you, too.

         19                 The instructions from the control

         20  center that you say you wait for initially when

         21  there is an emergency situation, those are

         22  communicated to you through what sort of system? Is

         23  it a radio system?

         24                 MR. SMALL: A radio system.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: A radio
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          2  system. And that's operated by electrical power?

          3                 MR. SMALL: We have, it's a battery

          4  power in the radio that we carry.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Battery

          6  power.

          7                 So, in the event of an electrical

          8  outage, the battery power would still work?

          9                 MR. SMALL: That's correct.

         10                 MR. KING: If you're not in a dead

         11  spot.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I'm sorry?

         13  Say that again?

         14                 MR. KING: If you're not in a dead

         15  spot.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         17                 MR. KING: There are dead spots

         18  throughout the system.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I guess my

         20  big picture question for you, and I think I know

         21  what the answer is going to be, but do you feel that

         22  you have the adequate training to be able to respond

         23  to emergency situations that might arise, whether

         24  they be terrorism, fire, smoke condition, whatever

         25  they are, do you feel that the training that you
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          2  have received to date is adequate? And if not, why

          3  not?

          4                 MR. KING: It's totally unaccurate

          5  (sic). It's not enough time. You have to deal with a

          6  lot of different situations. Even in an emergency,

          7  you have some passengers who refuse to detrain. They

          8  refuse to get off the train. They panic. They freeze

          9  up. You have other people, as was stated earlier,

         10  disabled. You have some people that may be blind.

         11  You know, it's a lot of different scenarios. You

         12  have homeless people, you know. It's a lot of

         13  situations to deal with, and two hours on evacuation

         14  alone, especially as the point you brought up

         15  without the fire people even participating and

         16  helping with the training, it's not adequate.

         17                 MR. SMALL: It's not adequate on

         18  several levels, as Conductor King stated. But we

         19  have shown them, through our terrorist course that

         20  we had conducted at Local 100, that we're aware of

         21  the situation and we're willing to work with them.

         22  In fact, we've invited several of their supervisors

         23  to that terrorist training class that we had, and in

         24  talking with them afterwards, they said it was a

         25  good idea, and they were going to take it back to
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          2  their superiors, and we haven't heard anything from

          3  them. That was in 2004.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: All right.

          5  Well, again, I wanted to thank you for your candor

          6  and your participation today.

          7                 Also, Mr. Chairman, I want to

          8  congratulate you and thank you for this very

          9  important hearing, because I know that I have

         10  learned a lot about what is going on out there. So,

         11  I really appreciate that, and congratulations to

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         14  Council Member Garodnick.

         15                 You know what a smoke condition is,

         16  and if at all possible, ride in the first car.

         17                 Council Member McMahon has some

         18  questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman. Let me just echo those remarks of

         21  Council Member Garodnick in commending you in

         22  bringing forward this very important issue. Needless

         23  to say, this is very, very troubling, what we're

         24  hearing here this morning.

         25                 I also want to commend you two
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          2  gentlemen, Mr. Small and Mr. King, because we thank

          3  you for your candor and your insight, but I think

          4  first and foremost we thank you for your courage to

          5  step forward in this way and take a stand. It shows

          6  great humanity on your part because it's not going

          7  to get you any more pay. It's not going to help you

          8  in your job probably because it's obvious that

          9  you're criticizing your employer, or at least

         10  pointing out shortcomings of your employer, and

         11  we're very, very grateful to you for that. And if

         12  any type of repercussion ever comes your way, please

         13  make sure you reach out to this Committee.

         14                 I'm also not surprised that the MTA

         15  has chosen not to honor us with an appearance here

         16  today. It's just another part of the pattern that

         17  they have in this regard.

         18                 I think post-9/11 all New Yorkers

         19  believe that steps have been taken to make their

         20  transportation safer, and when we hear that there's

         21  been really no change in policy since 9/11, and no

         22  additional training, it's very troubling, and your

         23  testimony will help this Committee press this issue

         24  further.

         25                 I don't know if you can tell me this,
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          2  but I mean you certainly gave us great detail about

          3  the subway operations; to your knowledge, are bus

          4  operators giving special safety training, or

          5  evacuation training or to deal with issues like fire

          6  or highjacking or anything like that?

          7                 MR. SMALL: I know they're giving

          8  training concerning fires. I'm not sure exactly if

          9  they've received any additional training since 9/11

         10  on bioterrorist attack, or, you know, things along

         11  that line. I can't really say. But I do know that

         12  the fire and evacuation training that we receive as

         13  train operators and conductors, they receive similar

         14  training.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: They bus

         16  operators do receive that?

         17                 MR. SMALL: Right. And additional

         18  training I can't really speak on.

         19                 In conversations I've had with other

         20  bus operators who are staff members of Local 100, I

         21  would say, no, they haven't received any additional

         22  training.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And I

         24  represent a portion of Staten Island where we have

         25  Staten Island railway, which is an above-ground
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          2  train, are you familiar with any training that they

          3  would receive? Or is it similar to yours?

          4                 MR. SMALL: No, I can't really speak

          5  on their training.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. I

          7  appreciate that.

          8                 At any point is there any integration

          9  or any joining of the training between the TA and

         10  the Fire Department and the Police Department?

         11                 Have you had any sessions with

         12  members of the Police Department, the Fire

         13  Department, or OEM to go over procedures?

         14                 MR. SMALL: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, the

         16  limited training that you've had has been only

         17  within the TA?

         18                 MR. SMALL: Is conducted within the

         19  Transit Authority, yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, you've

         21  never had any conversation with anyone from any

         22  other City agency, or they've never spoken to you or

         23  given any presentations or talked about how there

         24  would be a combined response?

         25                 MR. SMALL: No.
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          2                 Now, they do have mock evacuations,

          3  in which we're invited as spectators. We're not

          4  allowed to participate. And they bring in all other

          5  agencies that you spoke of. But we're not

          6  participants in that process. We just come as

          7  observers.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But in the

          9  case of an emergency, you are, you know, you are the

         10  first responders. You are the people who are going

         11  to have to handle matters until the calvary arrives

         12  so-to-speak, and there has been no integrated

         13  training with those agencies? That's incredible.

         14                 MR. SMALL: No, we only get invited to

         15  those training sessions as observers, not as

         16  participants.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, again,

         18  this is more evidence of the fact that the MTA has

         19  not taken its responsibility seriously, Mr.

         20  Chairman. I know that this is one of many hearings

         21  you've had, and I know that you'll continue to do

         22  so, and it's just utterly outrageous that here we

         23  are more than five years post-9/11 and, you know, a

         24  year ago we were in this room screaming it was four

         25  years and adequate planning hasn't been done, and
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          2  now it's five years and adequate planning hasn't

          3  been done. So, we all thank you for your leadership

          4  on this, and thank you, gentlemen, as well. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. KING: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Thank

          8  you, Council Member McMahon. And it's only been a

          9  couple of days since the State Comptroller Alan

         10  Hevesi has released another report highlighting how

         11  far behind the MTA truly is in their own plan to

         12  harden the system against terror attacks.

         13                 So, there is no question that the MTA

         14  is on the defensive on this issue. They are

         15  concerned. They have actually acknowledged that

         16  they've made some mistakes during the evacuation

         17  situations in August and in July.

         18                 But the bottom line is, as certainly

         19  my colleagues know, the MTA can run but they cannot

         20  hide from the issue or from the concerns that New

         21  Yorkers have with regard to their procedures and the

         22  way they have handled their own project planning and

         23  progress in the aftermath of the September 11th

         24  attacks.

         25                 Just a couple of more questions for
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          2  you gentlemen, and then I think we'll be done. I

          3  want to thank you once again for being here.

          4                 Mr. Small, you mentioned that 18

          5  years ago you became a train operator?

          6                 MR. SMALL: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in the 18 years

          8  since you have received three refresher courses on

          9  evacuation procedures?

         10                 MR. SMALL: That is correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that's basically

         12  once every six years, instead of the annual training

         13  that's required by the MTA's own procedures?

         14                 MR. SMALL: That's correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And let me point out

         16  to my Committee members that often times when there

         17  is a mishap, that the MTA turns around and blames it

         18  on the workers for not following the procedures. So,

         19  on the one hand, the MTA doesn't provide the

         20  training to the workers that the MTA's own

         21  procedures call for, and then when something does go

         22  wrong, the MTA turns around and blames it on the

         23  workers who haven't followed the procedures.

         24                 MR. SMALL: That happens a lot.

         25                 Like I said earlier, in an emergency
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          2  situation, you have to use your own judgment and you

          3  have to use it very quickly. To give you a better

          4  example, they had a fire several years ago in the

          5  Clark Street tubes and there was a train operator,

          6  his name was Washington, and he had called control

          7  and told them that there was smoke ahead of him, and

          8  he wanted to take his train back, moving against

          9  traffic in the opposite direction. And they kind of

         10  like waited and waited and waited, and Mr.

         11  Washington saw that the station that he was getting

         12  ready to enter was filling up with smoke, so he did

         13  what he thought was the correct thing, he took the

         14  train against traffic back to the station that he

         15  had left.

         16                 They attempted to reprimand Mr.

         17  Washington for that, but I think because of the

         18  public outcry they rescinded that.

         19                 So, yes, you can make a judgment for

         20  the safety and good of the passengers or customers

         21  and you could wind up facing disciplinary action.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         23                 So, in the absence of the training,

         24  the workers have no choice but to use some of their

         25  own common sense judgments, and even then they can
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          2  be penalized for that?

          3                 MR. SMALL: Yes, that's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that clearly

          5  highlights the deficiencies that the MTA management

          6  continues to make us all suffer from.

          7                 I also want to remind my colleagues

          8  on the Committee that last year we also held a

          9  hearing concerning the failed drill, the evacuation

         10  drill that the MTA conducted when they wanted to go

         11  to one-person train operation. I believe it was on

         12  April 18th of 2005. And in that failed drill, they

         13  said that the drill failed because the worker had

         14  not followed the right procedure.

         15                 So, once again, it's just such an

         16  ironic, funny example of how the MTA doesn't do the

         17  training, doesn't provide the training, and turns

         18  around at every possible turn and uses the excuse

         19  that the worker messed up, that the worker did not

         20  follow the procedure.

         21                 MR. SMALL: On that particular drill

         22  that they had, the person who was actually operating

         23  the train was actually the supervisor that made the

         24  incorrect --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Then finally,
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          2  let me just ask you one quick question on a

          3  different kind of evacuation. There has been a lot

          4  of -- the City's Office of Emergency Management, in

          5  talking about their emergency evacuation plans, they

          6  talk about how they're going to get everybody to

          7  take the buses and subways to one of the evacuation

          8  centers, and when they have to stop service on the

          9  subways, they're going to get additional buses out

         10  there.

         11                 Has there been any notification or

         12  communications with either of you or any of your

         13  colleagues about your role in the City's evacuation

         14  plans, in the event of a hurricane or a similar type

         15  of emergency?

         16                 MR. SMALL: No.

         17                 MR. KING: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. Well,

         19  thank you very much for clarifying that for me,

         20  because based on OEM's testimony, the MTA response

         21  is that they somehow, they're thinking that all the

         22  train operators, their train conductors, the bus

         23  drivers will be completely on board with that

         24  evacuation plan. It's eye-opening to hear that they

         25  have not communicated any part of that to you.
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          2                 MR. SMALL: We'd have to know what the

          3  plan was. We get excluded, like how you talk about

          4  that drill, we go to those drills as observers, not

          5  as participants, and if they're doing any planning,

          6  it's being done on a managerial level and it hasn't

          7  trickled down to us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          9                 Well, thank you very much for your

         10  time this morning, gentlemen. We certainly

         11  appreciate the insight that you've provided us with.

         12                 MR. SMALL: Thank you for having us.

         13                 MR. KING: Thank you. Appreciate it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have another

         15  witness, Bradford Wilson. Or Mr. X.

         16                 MR. X: Hi.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please proceed.

         18                 MR. X: I think two people are absent.

         19  Cathy Lapp, MTA Executive Director, and Iris

         20  Weinshall, New York City Transportation

         21  Commissioner. I feel the New York City

         22  Transportation should also get involved and

         23  investigate because they're also responsible for

         24  providing service, public transportation service for

         25  New Yorkers. They have jurisdiction over the MTA.
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          2  Why are they absent? I think that's a good question.

          3  They should also be here, too. They should tell MTA

          4  officials you need to train your employees better,

          5  so no one points the finger, no one panics. I'm

          6  hoping you can conduct more guidance in this topic,

          7  and hoping those agencies can come here and testify,

          8  we need to hear from Iris Weinshall as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         10                 That concludes this morning's hearing

         11  of the City Council's Committee on Transportation

         12  concerning the evacuation and communications

         13  procedures during subway emergencies.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 11:35 a.m.)
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